Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/agee





Shamim Gul<sup>a,b</sup>, Joann K. Whalen<sup>a,\*</sup>, Ben W. Thomas<sup>a</sup>, Vanita Sachdeva<sup>a</sup>, Hongyuan Deng<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Natural Resource Sciences, Macdonald Campus, McGill University, 21 111 Lakeshore Road, Ste-Anne-de-Bellevue, Quebec H9X 3V9, Canada <sup>b</sup> Department of Botany, University of Balochistan, Saryab Road, Quetta, Balochistan, Pakistan

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 September 2014 Received in revised form 10 March 2015 Accepted 13 March 2015 Available online xxx

Keywords: Biochar production temperature Pyrolysis feedstocks Biochar-microbial interactions Soil microbial biomass Microbial community structure pH Texture

#### ABSTRACT

Soil microbial communities are responsive to biochar amendments. As the residence time of biochar in soil is expected to be hundreds to thousands of years, the changes in microbial community structure and functions could persist for a long period of time. Given that biochar is being applied as a soil amendment in many parts of the world, the long-term consequences for soil microbial communities need to be considered. The objective of this review is to document how biochar creates new habitats and changes the soil environment for microorganisms, which may lead to changes in microbial abundance, community structure and activities. Our meta-analysis revealed that slow pyrolyzed biochars produced from various feedstocks at temperatures from 300 °C to 600 °C consistently increased some physicochemical properties (i.e., pH, cation exchange capacity and aggregation) and microbial parameters (i.e., abundance and community structure of microorganisms) in a vast number of soils during short (≤90 days) laboratory incubations and longer (1-3 years) field studies. The biochar-mediated changes in soil physico-chemical and biological properties appeared to be a function of soil texture and biochar type based on its feedstock and production temperature, which determines key biochar characteristics such as surface area, porosity and pH. Biochars derived from manure or crop residue feedstocks tend to promote microbial abundance more than wood-derived biochars. Biochars derived from wood and other lignocellulosic-rich feedstocks tend to exhibit beneficial effects on soil microbial abundance later (≥60 days) than biochars from manure or crop residue feedstocks. Coarse textured soils tend to have less aggregation, lower microbial biomass and lower enzyme activities when amended with slow pyrolyzed biochars produced at high temperatures (>600 °C), but these biochars did not affect the physico-chemical and biological properties of clayey soils. Further research is needed to evaluate the magnitude of biochar influence on soil microbial abundance and activities considering (1) the biochar particle size, surface area, porosity, nutrient content and pH, and (2) the soil organic matter (SOM) content and microbial abundance of the soil matrix. Once the microbial activities in the biochar-soil system are understood, they can be manipulated through organic and inorganic fertilizer applications to sustain or improve agricultural crop production.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	47										
2.	Biochar properties as function of feedstock and production temperature											
3.	Biochar-mediated changes in soil physico-chemical properties	48										
	3.1. pH and cation exchange capacity	49										
	3.2. Soil aggregation	50										
	3.3. Retention of low-molecular weight substances	50										
4.	Microbial responses in biochar amended soils	53										

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 514 398 7943; fax: +1 514 398 7990. *E-mail address:* joann.whalen@mcgill.ca (J.K. Whalen).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.03.015 0167-8809/© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

	4.1.	Microbial habitats in biochar amended soils	. 53
	4.2.	Microbial abundance in biochar-amended soils	. 54
	4.3.	Microbial community structure in biochar amended soils	. 55
	4.4.	Enzyme activity in biochar amended soils	. 55
	4.5.	Microbial signaling biochar-amended soils	. 56
	4.6.	Microbial responses in fresh- versus aged-biochar-amended soils	. 56
5.	Future	e directions	. 56
	5.1.	Laboratory incubation and pot-based studies	. 56
	5.2.	Field-based studies	. 57
6.	Conclu	usions	. 57
	Ackno	wledgement	. 57
	Refere	nces	. 57

# 1. Introduction

Biochar is a solid carbonaceous residue made by burning biomass under oxygen-free to oxygen-deficient conditions. Wood chips, crop residues, nut shells, seed mill screenings, algae, animal manure and sewage sludge are some of the many feedstocks used in biochar production. Biochar is highly resistant to decomposition when applied to soil, its residence time ranges from tens of years to millennia (Preston and Schmidt, 2006; Verheijen et al., 2010). The persistent nature of biochar-C in soil indicates that it will contribute to soil C sequestration (Ennis et al., 2012; Lai et al., 2013; Malghani et al., 2013) and reduce greenhouse gas emissions (Stewart et al., 2013), resulting in a negative carbon balance for bioenergy generation systems that produce biochar (Lehmann, 2007).

Historically, biochar was used as a soil amendment for at least 2000 years in the Amazon basin. The "Terra Preta" soils that were regularly amended with biochar and other organic materials (e.g., fish and animal bones, plant tissues, animal feces) have higher pH, are richer in nutrients and have larger microbial populations and more diverse microbial community structure than unamended Oxisols, which are generally acidic and infertile (Liang et al., 2008; Germano et al., 2012; Taketani et al., 2013; Table 1). The higher productivity of Terra Preta soils than their unamended Oxisol counterparts led to world-wide interest in applying biochar to agricultural soils and is creating new markets for the biochar produced as a co-product from the thermochemical conversion of biomass via pyrolysis. Soil microbial communities are responsive to biochar amendment because it increases microbial abundance and activities (Lehmann et al., 2011; Chan et al., 2008; Ameloot et al., 2013a) by providing an environment with ample aeration,

#### Table 1

Characteristics of Tera Preta soils of various land use types (i.e., secondary forest, grassland and agricultural land, compared to nearby unamended Oxisols (compiled from Liang et al., 2008; Germano et al., 2012; Taketani et al., 2013).

Soil chemical characteristics	Terra Preta	Unamended Oxisol
рН	4.1-5.5*	2.6-3.8
Organic C content (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	15.7-31.5*	10.2-21.8
Total nitrogen (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	10–18	4-16
Total phosphorus (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	5026-9064*	139-273
Total calcium (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	40-17545*	50-165
Soil biological characteristics: microbial di	versity indices	
Shannon-Weiner	6.08-6.38	5.59-5.66
Simpson	0.004	0.006-0.007
ACE (abundance-based coverage	1834.0-	1559.6-1684.5
estimators)	3523.3	
S <sub>obs</sub>	941-1696	820-852
Chao1	1551.1-	1214.4-1379.9
	2736.4	
Singletons	10–17	11–13

Values with an asterisk (\*) were significantly different (P < 0.05) the referenced papers.

water and nutrients (Ameloot et al., 2013b; McCormack et al., 2013). A diverse microbial community structure is implicated in efficient nutrient transfer to crops and greater nutrient retention in soil (e.g., Gul et al., 2014a,b), which is beneficial in reducing nutrient loss from agricultural soil to the environment.

The thermochemical conversion processes generating renewable fuels such as combustible gas (syngas) and bio-oil, leaving biochar as a byproduct, include slow and fast pyrolysis, gasification and hydrothermal carbonization. Due to the cost and scale of production that is commercially feasible, the slow and fast pyrolysis pathways are most commonly employed in making biochar to be used as a soil amendment for agriculture. Slow pyrolysis biochar is a product of traditional heating of feedstocks under oxygen-limiting conditions, for cooking and house-warming purposes and it is achieved by heating the feedstocks at temperatures from 300 to 800°C at atmospheric pressure for hours to days (Brewer and Brown, 2012). Fast pyrolysis aims to maximize the production of bio-oil by rapid quenching of vapor produced from burning biomass at higher temperatures (400–1000 °C) with a fast heating rates i.e., >300 °C s<sup>-1</sup>, for few hours (i.e., 1–2 h; Brewer and Brown, 2012; Mohanty et al., 2013).

The physico-chemical characteristics of slow and fast pyrolysis biochars depend on the feedstocks and production temperature used. Higher production temperatures yield biochars with greater surface area and porosity (Mukherjee et al., 2011; Brewer and Brown, 2012; Mohanty et al., 2013), more alkaline pH, higher carbon:nitrogen (C:N) ratio (Singh and Cowie, 2010; Cantrell et al., 2012; Novak et al., 2013; Ronsse et al., 2013) and lower dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations (Uchimiya et al., 2013; Budai et al., 2014; Rajapaksha et al., 2014). These variations in biochar characteristics have implications when biochar is applied as a soil amendment. Depending on the native soil properties (e.g., texture and SOM content), biochar inputs can cause negligible to significant alteration of soil physico-chemical and biological properties.

The objective of this review is to document how biochar produced from slow and fast pyrolysis creates new habitats and changes the soil physico-chemical environment for microorganisms, which may lead to changes in microbial abundance, community structure and activities. Specifically, this review seeks to answer the following questions: (1) how does biochar type, based on its feedstock, production temperature and characteristics such as surface area, porosity and pH, affect soil physico-chemical and biological properties? and (2) will soil attributes (e.g., texture) buffer or resist biochar-induced changes in physico-chemical properties and microbial processes?

# 2. Biochar properties as function of feedstock and production temperature

Each biochar has distinct physico-chemical properties such as surface area, pH, concentration of various elements/nutrients (e.g., carbon (C), oxygen (O), nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), potassium (K), calcium (Ca)). These biochar properties are a function of the feedstock and biochar production temperature, as shown in Table 2. Generally, biochars produced from seaweeds, manures and crop residues are richer in nutrients, have higher pH and less stable carbon than lignocellulosic rich feedstocks such as wood (Bird et al., 2011; Brewer and Brown, 2012; Novak et al., 2013; Table 2). In general, the nutrients such as P, K, Ca, surface area, pH, carbon:nitrogen (C:N) and carbon:oxygen (C:O) ratio of biochar increases when biochar production temperature increases (Huff et al., 2014; Crombie et al., 2013; Uchimiya et al., 2013; Table 2). Fast pyrolysis tends to have no effect on the biochar C:O ratio, relative to slow pyrolysis, however, it increases the surface area of biochar (Mohanty et al., 2013; Chintala et al., 2014; Table 2).

# 3. Biochar-mediated changes in soil physico-chemical properties

There is ample evidence from the scientific literature that biochar improves soil physical qualities of importance for crop production. Greater aeration and water holding capacity is reported in biochar-amended soils, due to the fact that biochar inputs reduced bulk density, enhance porosity and reduce evapotranspiration (e.g., Busscher et al., 2010; Githinji, 2014; Herath et al., 2013; Ibrahim et al., 2013; Lashari et al., 2013; Mukherjee and Lal, 2013; Schulz et al., 2014). Of interest in this review is how biochar mediates changes in soil physico-chemical properties of importance to microorganisms. Clearly, this involves both physical changes, such as in the soil pores where microorganisms live at the water-air interface, and chemical changes in soil solution that microorganisms rely upon to obtain substrates and energy as well as on organo-mineral surfaces where biofilms and fungal hyphae bind to the soil matrix. The following sections describe how biochar amendment impacts several key physicochemical parameters of importance for soil microbial communities. It should be noted that the empirical evidence comes from research carried out with fine particle sized (<2 mm) biochars mixed thoroughly in soils for incubation- and pot-based studies. This could describe short-term changes in soil physico-chemical properties following biochar addition. For field-based studies, the biochars were mostly broadcast on the soil surface then incorporated by plowing/harrowing in the topsoil (to a maximum depth of 15 cm). Although, field-based studies include factors such as climate, fertilizer applications, and tillage practices that can alter soil physico-chemical and biological properties and might exaggerate/mask the biochar-induced results on these soil parameters, field studies are important to be evaluate the consistency of results obtained from controlled versus field-based studies.

Table 2

Physico-chemical properties of biochars obtained from various feedstocks that underwent slow and fast pyrolysis at various temperatures (°C). Values with an asterisk (\*) were significantly different (P < 0.05) between the biochar production methods, for a given biomass feedstock.

Biomass feedstock	Biochar production temperature (°C)	Porosity (surface area m²/g)	рН	C (%)	0 (%)	N (%)	$P(gkg^{-1})$	K (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Ca (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference
Corn stover	350	a	-	67.5		0.93	-	1.04	0.27	Nguyen and Lehmann (2009)
	600	-	-	79.0		0.92	-	0.67	0.31	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	400	-	6.9	69.4	-	0.21	0.13	1.43	11.24	Singh and Cowie (2010)
	550	-	8.82	83.6	-	0.26	0.22	2.36	21.26	
Eucalyptus saligna leaf	400	-	9.17	66.2	-	1.64	2.08	12.82	17.14	
	550	-	9.88	71.9	-	1.7	2.67	14.92	20.52	
Poultry litter	400	-	9.2	43.1	-	5.18	5.76	24.85	33.35	
	550	-	10.2	41.3	-	3.8	6.04	22.98	39.85	
Cow manure	400	-	9.03	17.5	-	1.35	4.36	26.43	17.52	
	550	-	8.94	16.5	-	1.1	4.93	23.08	18.81	
Oak wood	400	252	6.7	-		-	-	-	-	Mukherjee et al. (2011)
	650	528	9.3	-		-	-	-	-	
Pine wood	400	361	-	-		-	-	-	-	
	650	643	-	-		-	-	-	-	
Grass	400	164	-	-		-	-	-	-	
	650	427	-	-		-	-	-	-	
Paved-feedlot manure	350	-	9.1	53.3	-	3.64	11.26	32	22.7	Cantrell et al. (2012)
	700	-	10.3	52.4	-	1.70	17.9	49.1	35.0	
Dairy manure	350	-	9.2	55.8	-	2.60	10.38	14.3	26.7	
	700	-	9.9	56.6	-	1.51	17.0	23.1	44.8	
Poultry manure	350	-	8.7	51.07	-	4.45	21.23	48.5	26.6	
	700	-	10.3	45.91	-	2.07	32.1	74.0	40.2	
Turkey manure	350	-	8.0	47.28	-	4.07	27.2	40.1	40.4	
	700	-	9.9	44.77	-	1.94	38.4	55.9	56.1	
Conocarpus waste	200	-	7.37	64.19	-	0.69	0.84	0.38	43.4	Al-Wabel et al. (2013)
	400	-	9.7	76.83	-	0.87	0.88	0.54	51.8	
	600	-	12.2	82.93	-	0.71	1.11	0.90	64.7	
	800	-	12.4	84.97	-	0.90	1.34	1.15	67.5	
Wheat straw	<sup>c</sup> SP (400 °C)	178	-	65.2	31.2	0.9	3.51	75.5	10.8	Mohanty et al. (2013)
	dFP	184	-	64.8	31.5	0.8	3.62	76.5	11.5	
Timothy grass	SP (400 °C)	179	-	67.5	30.8	1.9	4.93	48.3	99.0	
	FP	203	-	63.7	28.2	1.9	4.69	46.4	84.0	
Pine wood	SP (400 °C)	166	-	81.4	20.5	0.3	0.57	29.0	58.0	
	FP	185	-	75.5	15.3	0.2	0.46	19.0	47.0	
Sugarcane Bagasse	350	-	-	75.2	-	0.66	0.50	3.78	2.04	Novak et al. (2013)
-	500	-	-	85.4	-	0.79	0.63	<sup>b</sup> 5.01*	3.28*	
Peanut hull	400	-	-	74.8	-	2.7	2.58	18.55	5.21	
	500	-	-	81.8	-	2.7	2.61	19.09	6.22*	
Pecan shell	350	-	_	64.5	_	0.3	0.25	2.34	11.0	
	700	-	_	91.2	_	0.26	0.46	4.56*	23.3*	
Pine chip	350	-	-	74.7	-	0.45	0.21	1.93	3.32	

### Table 2 (Continued)

Biomass feedstock	Biochar production temperature (°C)	Porosity (surface area m²/g)	рН	C (%)	0 (%)	N (%)	P (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$K(g kg^{-1})$	$Ca(gkg^{-1})$	Reference
	500	-	-	87.2	_	0.43	0.28	2.70*	0.05*	
Poultry litter	350	-	-	46.1	-	5.0	29.43	58.86	44.3	
-	700	-	-	44.0	-	2.8	42.79	86.64*	62.8*	
Switchgrass	250	-	-	55.3	-	0.43	1.01	4.87	1.12	
	500	-	-	84.4	-	1.1	2.39*	11.59*	5.12*	
Pine wood	450	23	6.7	86.3	-	-	-	-	-	Ronsse et al. (2013)
	750	-	10.4	92.5	-	-	-	-	-	
Straw	450	-	10.1	86.4	-	-	-	-	-	
	750	-	11.9	93.7	-	-	-	-	-	
Green waste	450	17	10.0	82.9	-	-	-	-	-	
	750	-	11.6	93.2	-	-	-	-	-	
Dry algae	450	14	9.3	78.8	-	-	-	-	-	
	750	-	12.5	90.6	-	-	-	-	-	
Corncob	377	-	-	74.1	20.6	0.6	-	-	-	Budai et al. (2014)
	562	-	-	86.6	9.1	0.8	-	-	-	
	693	-	-	89.4	5.6	0.9	-	-	-	
Miscanthus	369	-	-	66.6	22.3	0.4	-	-	-	
	503	-	-	64.5	11.2	0.5	-	-	-	
	693	-	-	84.6	6.1	0.7	-	-	-	
Corn stover	SP	38	11	73.6	0.04	0.14	-	-	-	Chintala et al. (2014a)
	FP	241	9.8	60.6	0.10	0.42	-	-	-	
Pine wood	SP	48	5.8	82.1	0.04	0.12	-	-	-	
	FP	190	8.5	54.0	0.05	0.15	-	-	-	
Pine wood	300	-	6.4	74.17	14.54	-	-	-	-	Huff et al. (2014)
	400	-	8.4	81.64	5.26	-	-	-	-	
	500	-	8.2	83.2	4.05	-	-	-	-	
Tea waste	300	2.28	7.93	70.5	19.62	4.97	-	-	-	Rajapaksha et al. (2014)
	700	342.22	11.05	85.11	8.88	3.92	-	-	-	

<sup>a</sup> Represents "no data".

<sup>b</sup> Represents values significant at P < 0.05.

<sup>c</sup> Represents slow pyrolysis.

<sup>d</sup> Represents fast pyrolysis.

# 3.1. pH and cation exchange capacity

An increase in soil pH following biochar application is frequently reported for across many soil types (e.g., Glaser et al., 2002; Ameloot et al., 2013a; Farrell et al., 2013; Masto et al., 2013; Stewart et al., 2013; Chintala et al., 2014b; Xu et al., 2014). This is due to the alkaline pH of biochar, which is positively related to its production temperature and type of feedstock (i.e., wood-based biochar tends to have higher pH than biochar made from crop residue and manure; Table 2). Another reason for pH increase in biochar-amended soils is the presence of negatively charged phenolic, carboxyl and hydroxyl groups on biochar surfaces (Brewer and Brown, 2012; Chintala et al., 2014b) that bind H<sup>+</sup> ions from the soil solution, thereby reducing the H<sup>+</sup> ion concentration in the soil solution and increasing the soil pH value. Moreover, the silicates, carbonates and bicarbonates originating from biochar can bind to H<sup>+</sup> ions and thereby remove them from soil solution, also contributing to an increase in soil pH. The positive influence of biochar on increasing soil pH is more profound in acidic soils and soils with low SOM content (e.g., Stewart et al., 2013), probably because SOM content is linked to the pH buffering capacity of soil (Curtin and Rostad, 1997; Curtin and Trolove, 2013; Kogel-Knabner and Amelung, 2014).

As biochar increases the pH-dependent charge of soil, this contributes to an increase in cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Liang et al., 2006; Chan et al., 2007; Nelissen et al., 2012; Masto et al., 2013; Mukherjee and Lal, 2013; Taketani et al., 2013; Ducey et al., 2013) by reducing the leaching of base cations in competition with H<sup>+</sup> ions via enhanced binding to negatively charged functional sites of organic matter (OM), biochar and organo-mineral complexes. Consequently, the precipitation of cations and formation of OH–H bonds on functional sites of

organo-mineral complexes (and biochar) allows cations to make weak hydrogen bonds with OH—H bonds (e.g., Brady and Weil, 2008). The high surface area and high pH of biochars produced at higher temperatures (>600 °C) may compensate for the low biochar CEC due to low O:C atomic mass ratio (Huff et al., 2014; Wan et al., 2014) to offer greater CEC provision to soil. However, the magnitude of this effect may depends on the SOM content, which is the primary determinant of soil CEC (Sylvia et al., 2005; Brady and Weil, 2008). For instance, there was no change in the CEC of a sandy soil following application of 3% and 6% (w/w) of hardwood-derived fast pyrolysis biochar during a 91 days laboratory incubation (Basso et al., 2013), possibly due to the low SOM content and low CEC of the soil prior to biochar amendment.

Biochar properties change with its aging in soil, most notably due to its oxidization and accumulation of H<sup>+</sup> from the soil solution in the first weeks and months after it is added as a soil amendment. This degree to which biochar properties change with time depends on the biochar source (Heitkotter and Marschner, 2015), soil and climatic conditions (Cheng et al., 2008). A decrease in pH as  $\Delta$ pH (subtraction of values for aged minus fresh biochars) -2.27 to -3.56 for slow pyrolyzed pine chip corn digested biochars produced at 400 °C and 600 °C in silt loam soil during 100 days of incubation in the laboratory was reported (P < 0.05, Heitkotter and Marschner 2015), while  $\Delta pH - 1$  to -4.4 was reported for two wood derived and one macadamia nut shell biochars slow pyrolyzed at 500-550 °C during a 3 years period after they were buried in loamy soil under field conditions (Spokas, 2013). The natural fire produced wood biochar buried in clay loam soil in field for four months, when incubated in same soil for 70 days, showed 10% significantly reduced CEC of soil as compared to fresh biochar produced from the same feedstock at 450 °C. Although the pH of aged and fresh biochars was same, the surface area of aged biochar was  $\sim 2$  times lower than fresh biochar (Zhao et al., 2015). This implies that the magnitude of the biochar-induced changes in soil physico-chemical and biological properties are dynamic, such that short-term changes may not be indicative of longer-term conditions in biochar-amended soils.

## 3.2. Soil aggregation

The positive influence of slow pyrolysis biochars (production temperatures 400-600 °C) in promoting soil aggregation is reported for soils ranging in texture from sandy loam to clay loam (Ibrahim et al., 2013; Jien and Wang, 2013; Mukherjee and Lal, 2013; Sachdeva, 2013; Demisie et al., 2014; Soinne et al., 2014; Khademalrasoul et al., 2014), in both field and incubation studies. The increase in soil aggregation with concomitant increase in SOM and microbial biomass in response to amendments of bamboo-600 and oak wood-600 biochars in clay loam soils during 372 days incubation period was also reported (Demisie et al., 2014). While SOM content and clay content are the primary determinants of aggregation in biochar-amended soil (Khademalrasoul et al., 2014), biochar properties such as surface area and O:C ratio are important to describe the binding of biochar to organo-mineral complexes as a preliminary step in the aggregate formation and stabilization process. Quinone groups in biochar as the main electron shuttling, redox-active moieties (Klupfel et al., 2014), are responsible for two-way direct linkage between organic or mineral surfaces or three-way indirect bindings via non-biochar organic matter-cross-linking agent, which bind biochar to mineral surfaces (Solomon et al., 2012: Joseph and Taylor, 2014; Kleber et al., 2014). Still, biochar generated under high production temperatures (700 °C) with low O:C ratio (42.13) did not change aggregation in a coarse-textured soil (Busscher et al., 2010, 2011), possibly due to the low OM and clay content of the soil. This has led several authors to propose that coarse-textured soils (e.g., sandy to sandy loam) with low SOM contents need to be co-amended with biochar and organic residues to promote soil aggregation (Busscher et al., 2010, 2011; see also Awad et al., 2013; Khademalrasoul et al., 2014).

## 3.3. Retention of low-molecular weight substances

At the time of production, biochar possesses reactive surfaces characterized by high surface area, the presence of pores and the negative charges from hydroxyl (–OH), carboxylic acids (–COOH) and small alkyl chains such as methane groups (–CH<sub>3</sub>) (Brewer and Brown, 2012; Kameyama et al., 2012). These attributes are expected to increase nutrient retention in biochar-amended soil including negatively charged ions such as  $NO_3^-$  and  $HPO_4^2/H_2PO_4^-$ (Major et al., 2009; Kameyama et al., 2012; Prommer et al., 2014) and DOC (Pietikainen et al., 2000; Abit et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2014; Ventura et al., 2014).

The ability of biochar to induce greater retention of ions and low molecular weight organic compounds, is related to (1) the biochar properties, such as surface area and O:C ratio, and (2) the alteration of charge/chemistry of the native soil organo-mineral surfaces mediated by biochar application. With regards to the biochar properties, these can be controlled by careful selection of feedstock and production temperature; however, the retention capacity of biochar will decline as it "ages" in the soil environment due to weathering, loss of reactive surface due to irreversible binding with soil substances, decrease in its pH (Spokas 2013), and decrease in its bulk density (Feng et al., 2014). Therefore, the physico-chemical properties of fresh biochar are useful in predicting its reactivity in the short-term (e.g., for periods of a few months) but probably not for field studies of longer duration. Furthermore, any alteration of charge/chemistry of the native soil organo-mineral surfaces mediated by biochar application depends on the quantity of biochar added and how often, the biochar's physiochemical properties and the response of the native soil that may be of short or long duration, depending on factors such as its SOM content and soil texture. Considering Terra Preta soils as a long-term case study, it is possible to permanently alter the soil's ability to induce greater retention of ions and low molecular weight organic compounds when regular biochar amendments are included as part of the agricultural regime. The assumption is that these alterations are a direct consequence of biochar application, and needs to be verified for other soils around the world.



Fig. 1. A conceptual model illustrating the direct micro-scale and indirect large-scale influence of biochar on microbial activites by altering soil properties and providing them with more habitat and extended niches.

# Table 3

Influence of biochar application, considering the source, production temperature (PT) and application rate (Appl. rate), soil characteristics (texture and pH) and study period (in field or lab) on microbial biomass carbon (MBC), F:B ratio and operational taxonomic units (OUTs), colony forming units (CFUs) and and community structure diversity units. All microbial parameters are given as % increase (positive value) or % reduction (negative value) compared to the control without biochar application.

Biochar			Soil	Study period	Microbial parameters		References
Source	PT (°C)	Appl. rate	Texture	Field Lab	% MBC or total microbial PLFA <sup>a</sup> (compared with control)	OUTs, CFUs, other diversity indices, community structure, F:B ratio	
Bull and dairy manure	500	1%	Silt loam	96	51 MBC	-	Kolb et al. (2009), biochar $\times$ soil interaction was significant for MBC (P < 0.01)
		1%	Loamy sand	96	83 MBC	-	
		1%	Sandy loam	96	48 MBC	-	
		1%	Clay loam	96	51 MBC	-	
Liter from coppice woodland	500	~1.75%	Silty loam	92	-38 MBC	Simpson index same	Rutigliano et al. (2011) Note MBC non-significant
	500	$\sim 1.75\%$		426	-39 MBC	Simpson index same	-
	500	$\sim 3.5\%$	Silty loam	92	-10 MBC	Simpson index same	
	500	$\sim 3.5\%$		426	20 MBC	Simpson index same	
Commercial biochar from coppice woodlands	500	5%	Silty loam	21 (po exp	1.4% MBC	-	Zavalloni et al. (2011)
Commercial biochar from coppice woodlands + wheat straw residue	500	5%		Ĩ	20% MBC	-	
Eucalyptus wood	600	2.27%	Sandy	70 (po exr	-28* MBC	-	Dempster et al. (2012)
Swine manure	350	~1.5%	Sandy loam	117 (po exp	31* MBC	(1) Gram +ve and gram –ve bacteria more abundant in soil amended with 350 biochars than control and other treatments (values not specified)	Ameloot et al. (2013a)
Swine manure Willow wood Willow wood	700 350 700				19 MBC 29.5* MBC 29* MBC		
Wheat shoot	450	0.5%	Aridic arenosol (coarse textured)	74	28* tPLFAs	<ul> <li><sup>13</sup>C biochar incorporated into PLFA (%): 0.020 in gram +ve bacteria,</li> <li>0.024 fungi, 0.002 in actinomycetes</li> </ul>	Farrell et al. (2013)
Eucalyptus shoot	450	0.5%	textured)	74	30* tPLFAs	<sup>13</sup> C biochar incorporated into PLFA (%): 0.04 in gram +ve bacteria, 0.012 in fungi, 0.001 in actinomycetes	
Waste wood of Leucaena leucocephala	700	5%	Clay loam	105	34* MBC	-	Jien and Wang (2013)
Miscanthus giganteus straw	350	5%	Clay loam	90	57* MBC	-	Luo et al. (2013)
Miscanthus giganteus straw	700	5%		90	-18 MBC	-	
Miscanthus giganteus staw+rye grass residue	350	5%		90	75* MBC	-	
Miscanthus giganteus straw+rye grass residue	700	5%		90	62* MBC	-	
Eichornia crassipes residue	300	10%	Ustorthents	20 (po exp	~2.5 times* MBC	-	Masto et al. (2013)
Ryegrass residue	450	1.3%	Loam	4 88	37 MBC* 11.4 MBC*		Maestrini et al. (2014)
Corncob biochar pellets	-	10%	-		high MBC (quantity not specified)	CFU: 30% higher bacteria in charosphere* and 82% lower in biochar pellet*, 55% higher fungi in charosphere* and 92% higher in biochar pellet*,	Sun et al. (2013)

Biochar			Soil	Study perio	, d	Microbial parameters		References
					98 (pot		25% higher actinobacteria in charosphere* and 79% higher in biochar pellet*. Shannon–Weiner index for bacteria ~3 times higher in charosphere and ~2.5 times	
Woody feedstocks	400	3%	Sandy clay	730	exp.)	_22% tPI FA*	lower in diochar pellet	Ameloot et al. $(2014)$
woody recustocks	400	370	loam	/30		-22% ti LiA		/inclose et al. (2014)
	500	1.7%	Clay loam	730		7% tPLFA	-	
	500	0.5%	Silt loam	730		-20% tPLFA	-	
Bamboo wood	600	0.5%	Clay loam		372	12%* MBC		Demisie et al. (2014)
Bamboo wood	600	2%			372	-1% MBC		
Oak wood	600	0.5%			372	15%* MBC		
Oak wood	600	2%			372	-2% MBC		
Bamboo + inorganic N	600	0.35%	Loam		1095		59%* higher bacterial abundance, 17% non-significant higher viruses Shannon index (H): control = 1.14, biochar + N amended soil = 1.41*, Richness (S): control = 14. biochar + N amended soil = 25.3*	Doan et al. (2014)
Bamboo + vermicompost	600	0.35%	Loam		1095		Same bacterial abundance, 83%* higher viruses than control. Shannon index (H):	
F							control = 1.14, biochar + vermicompost amended soil = 1.52*, Richness (S): control = 14, biochar + vermicompost amended soil = 33.7*	
Corn stover	600	$\sim 0.9\%$	Sandy loam	1095		-27 MBC	-	Domene et al. (2014)
forest litter layer	400	~2.3% 5%	Loam		96	49* MBC -	- (1) 25% higher number of bacterial and 27% higher fungal genera in biochar	Hu et al. (2014)
							amended soil than control (2) 33% higher bacterial and 28% lower fungal OTUs in biochar amended soil than exceeded.	
							(3) 12%, 30% and 37% higher bacterial diversity and 17%, 40% and 23% lower fungal diversity as Shannon–Wiener, Simpsons and Chao indices, respectively in biochar amonded soil than control	
Swine manure	500	1%	Sandy loam		90	20%* tPLFA	F:B ratio: $-11\%$ lower than control	Muhammad et al. (2014)
Swine manure		3%				8.5% tPLFAs	5%	
fruit peels		1%				25%* tPLFA	Same as control	
fruit peels		3%				45%* tPLFAs	27%* higher than control	
Phragmites australis		1%				12.5%* tPLFA	10%	
Phragmites australis		3%				17 <sup>*</sup> tPLFAs	10%	
Brassica rapa		1%				11% tPLFA	Same as control	
Brassica rapa		3%				-1 tPLFAs	16%	
Jarrah wood	600	0.1-	Loamy (red	305		24.4 MBC ( $P < 0.06$ )	2–4 times high OUTs of acidobacteria:acidobacteria and acidobacteria:	Nielsen et al. (2014)
1 A / 11	470	0.5%	ferrosol)		20	0 + DI FA	verrucomicrobia associations at 1 tha <sup>-1</sup> amendment	Prove at al. (2014)
Willow wood	470	2%	Clay loam		30	8 TPLFA	PLFA: bacteria 9%, actinobacteria same, gram –ve bacteria 19%, fungi 12%*	Prayogo et al. (2014)
forest leaf litter (1% w/w)		Ζ%				18 LPLFA	PLFA: Dacteria 13%, actinodacteria 25%, grani –ve Dacteria 14% , tungi 40%	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	400	0.8%	Clay loam		195	6 MBC	CFU: 37% bacteria, 57% fungi, –46% actinomycetes	Singh and Cowie (2014) Note
								Treatment <i>P</i> value significant ( $P < 0.001$ ) except for fungi at 720 days study period
Eucalyptus saligna leaves	400	0.8%				15 MBC	CFU: 63% bacteria, 43% fungi, 14% actinomycetes	P P
Poultry manure	400	0.8%				25 MBC	CFU: 81% bacteria, 76% fungi, 19% actinomycetes	
Cow manure	400	0.8%				6 MBC	CFU: 36% bacteria, 36% fungi, 2% actinomycetes	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	400	0.8%			720	Same MBC	CFU: -10% bacteria, 43% fungi, -52% actinomycetes	
Eucalyptus saligna leaves	400	0.8%				-15 MBC	CFU: 13% bacteria, 58% fungi, –39% actinomycetes	
Poultry manure	400	0.8%				25 MBC	CFU: 4% bacteria, 65% fungi, –16% actinomycetes	
Cow manure	400	0.8%			10-	7 MBC	CFU: -/% bacteria, 51% fungi, -10% actinomycetes	
Eucalyptus saligna wood	550	0.8%			195	8 MBC	CFU: 45% bacteria, 68% fungi, -44% actinomycetes	
cuculyptus saligna leaves	550	0.8%				8 MBC	CFU: -12% Dacteria, 33% IUngi, $-49%$ actinomycetes	
	550	0.8%					CFU. 50% Datteria, $47\%$ lungi, $-28\%$ attinomytetes	
Cow manure	550	0.8%			720	Same MBC	CFU: 12/0 Datteria, 57/0 Iuligi, 10/0 attinollyCeles	
ucuivoius sungilu wood	220	<b>U.0</b> /⁄			120	Jaille IVIDC	$C_1 O_2 = -30\%$ Dattend, $30\%$ tungl, $-43\%$ attinuitytetes	

32% actinomycetes	-36% actinomycetes	-45% actinomycetes	Wang et al. (2014)				Watzinger et al. (201			gram –ve bacteria by 54%, gram +ve bacteria 37%, Mitchell et al. (2015)	as compared to control	gram –ve bacteria by 56%, gram +ve bacteria 50%,	as compared to control	am –ve bacteria by 19%, gram +ve bacteria 31%%,	bundance reduced by 18% (non-significant) as		<ul> <li>in gram –ve bacteria by 43%, gram +ve bacteria</li> </ul>	ngal abundance non-significantly higher by 51% as		Zhao et al. (2015)		
CFU: 1% bacteria, 51% fungi, –6	CFU: -10% bacteria, 41% fungi,	CFU: -18% bacteria, 54% fungi,	1		1	1				Reduction (non-significant) in §	actinomycetes 50%, fungi 54% a	Reduction (non-significant) in §	actinomycetes 55%, fungi 63% a	<ul> <li>Increase (non-significant) in gr.</li> </ul>	actinomycetes 5% and fungal al	compared to control	Provide the set of the set $P < 0.05$	59%, actinomycetes 34% and fur	compared to control			ntrol soils.
-18 MBC	8 MBC	8 MBC	~14%* MBC		~21% MBC	~11% MBC	12.5% high tPLFAs	-9.5%	tPLFAs	Lower tPLFAs (value	not mentioned)	Lower tPLFAs (value	not mentioned)	Higher tPLFAs (value	not mentioned)		Higher tPLFAs (value	not mentioned)		41% MBC*	79% MBC*	char-amended than co
			ı		I	1	100	100		28		28		168			168			42		5) in biod
			% Loamy 30	(ferralsol)	06	36.	Sandy loam	Silt loam		Sandy to	sandy loam									Clay loam		ntly different $(P < 0.0)$
0.8%	0.8%	0.8%	$\sim 0.25$				3%	3%		10%		20%		10%			20%			2%	5%	sionifica
550	550	550	500				525			500										450		k (*) were
Eucalyptus saligna leaves	Poultry manure	Cow manure	Bamboo leaf				Wheat husk			Sugar maple wood										Pinus massoniana		Values followed by an asteris

S. Gul et al./Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 206 (2015) 46–59

L

#### 4. Microbial responses in biochar amended soils

The physico-chemical properties of biochar, as well as the biochar-induced changes in soil physico-chemical properties can alter the activities of soil microorganisms. As illustrated in Fig. 1, the biochar surfaces and pores provide habitat to microorganisms and its amendment concomitantly improves bulk density. pH and the movement of air. water and nutrients within the soil matrix. These alterations in soil physico-chemical properties help promote microbial abundance and activities by providing them with space and an environment that contains many diverse and expanded niches. This direct beneficial influence of biochar on soil quality and microorganisms can results in the indirect provision of more habitats and niches to microorganisms as litter and roots through improved plant growth. This section deals mainly with the direct influence of biochar on microbial responses such as microbial abundance, community structure, enzyme activity and microbial signaling in biochar amended soils.

# 4.1. Microbial habitats in biochar amended soils

Biochar pores serve as a habitat (Zackrisson et al., 1996; Pietikainen et al., 2000; Warnock et al., 2007; Quilliam et al., 2013; Jaafar et al., 2014) and refuge to soil microorganisms such as bacteria (size range from 0.3 to 3 µm), fungi (2-80 µm), and protozoa (7-30 µm), which protect them from predatory soil microarthropods (Zackrisson et al., 1996; Warnock et al., 2007). Biochar macropores (>200 nm) probably represent most of the protected microbial habitats since they are the right size to accommodate bacteria (see Ouilliam et al., 2013), although biochar also contains micropores (<2 nm) and mesopores (2-50 nm) that could store water and dissolved substances that are needed for microbial metabolism (Brewer and Brown, 2012). The fraction and size of these pores depends on the production temperature of the biochar, where higher temperatures result in more water and organic matter volatilization, creating larger pores (Brewer and Brown, 2012). Moreover, the biochar feedstock also determines the size and abundance of pores. In a study with biochars produced from five feedstocks at 500 °C, Lee et al. (2013) reported that in  $600 \times 500 \,\mu m$  SEM image, sugarcane bagasse, paddy straw and umbrella tree wood biochars had mostly  $10-50 \,\mu\text{m}$ ,  $20-100 \,\mu\text{m}$  and  $50-70 \,\mu\text{m}$ diameter pore sizes, occupying  $\sim$ 70%, 80% and 30% of biochar surface, respectively. The  $60 \times 50 \,\mu\text{m}$  SEM image showed that cocopeat husk and palm kernel biochars had  $5-10\,\mu\text{m}$  and 1–3  $\mu$ m diameter pore sizes, occupying  $\sim$ 15% and  $\sim$ 10% of biochar surface, respectively. Cross section of beech wood biochar (500 °C) showed perforations of 10-40 µm while longitudinal section had 125 µm to immeasurable long pores (full length did not come in  $900 \times 700 \,\mu\text{m}$  SEM image), while the plasmodesmata were up to 100 nm diameter (Prommer et al., 2014). The width, length and number of pores of vessels and tracheids in biochar can also depends on the part of plant residue used for its production (Carlquist and Schneider, 2007) as the size and diameter of vessels increase and their density decrease from leaves to roots along plant axis (e.g., Aloni and Zimmermann, 1983 and references therein). Other physical properties of biochar that are important for soil microorganisms include its surface area, where greater surface area leads to more opportunity for microbial colonization and its black color, which attracts more heat and thus may speed microbial growth and enzyme activity.

The chemical properties of biochar that can account for microbial growth on biochar surfaces and within its pores are (1) its surface charge, which binds microbial cells, chemical compounds and ions, and (2) the concentration of nutrients and

DOC that are desorbed or solubilized from the biochar. The volatile fraction of biochar, being low molecular weight DOC, is reported to be a preferred C source for microorganisms that are primary colonizers of freshly-applied biochar (Stewart et al., 2013). Using fluorescence excitation emission spectrophotometry, Uchimiya et al. (2013) reported that biochar extracts from different sources (almond shell, broiler litter, cottonseed hull and peacon shell) contained fulvic-like and humic-like structures, similar to those found in SOC, and thermally stable lignin-like DOC. Deenik et al. (2010) reported the presence of butyrolactone, mequinol, phenol, syringol, p-ethyl, guaiacol, cresol and ethyl phenol compounds in the volatile fraction of macademia nut shell biochar. The nature of the DOC and other metabolisable C compounds, as well as the pH of biochars are expected to be important controllers of microorganisms growing on biochars. Gram positive bacteria preferentially utilize biochar-derived C, suggesting that this material lacks appreciable quantities of easily degradable organic substances such as dissolved carbohydrates, amino acids, small polypeptides etc., that promote the growth of gram negative bacteria (Santos et al., 2012; Farrell et al., 2013). Moreover, the alkaline pH of most biochar may be more favorable for gram positive than gram negative bacteria. However, as the age of biochar proceeds, its pH declines, which can promote fungal growth

within biochar pores as reported by Zimmermann et al. (2012).

Despite its direct influence on microbial growth, the rate of biochar mineralization and its input into microbial biomass is much lower than the native SOC. For instance, based on <sup>13</sup>C isotope labeling short term (<200 days) incubation studies reveal less than 3% utilization of slow pyrolized biochars (350°C-700°C) from ligno-cellulosic feed stocks (Luo et al., 2011; Zavalloni et al., 2011; Santos et al., 2012; Farrell et al., 2013; Singh et al., 2014). Kuzyakov et al. (2009) reported that biochar obtained from combustion of <sup>14</sup>C labeled perennial rye grass (400 °C) had 0.5% loss as CO<sub>2</sub> per year when incubated in a silt loam soil for 1181 days at 20 °C and 70% water holding capacity, which suggested its residence time in soil would be 2000 years. Moreover, the biochar derived <sup>14</sup>C input into soil via microbial biomass during 624 days was only 2.6%. Likewise, the <sup>13</sup>C labeled slow pyrolyzed (450 °C) ponderosa pine wood biochar amended at 2 cm depth as  $397 \text{ g cm}^{-2}$  in a loamy soil of beach dominated temperate forest decomposed <1% and its <sup>13</sup>C incorporation in microbial biomass was only 0.01% during ten months while the <sup>13</sup>C labeled wood of same species mineralized by 52% and contributed <sup>13</sup>C in microbial biomass as 0.22% during that period (Singh et al., 2014).

The low nutrient contents in biochar relative to bulk soil and its high sorption capacity for low molecular weight substances explains the lower colonization of microorganisms within and on biochar surfaces in soil matrix as described by Quilliam et al. (2013). They found low microbial colonization on wood derived biochar produced at 450 °C, buried in sandy clay loam soil for 3 years (particle size of biochar range from 0–2 mm to 10 mm). The average percentage of internal-surface-biota-positive fields of view through SEM image was 40.7% but microorganisms were distributed very sparsely, moreover, pores of size <1  $\mu$ m, which were 17% of the total pores present, were uninhabitable for most of the microbes.

Although biochar does not provide microorganisms with as much mineralizable C and nutrient sources as the bulk soil, the size, porosity and surface area of biochar can represents a suitable niche for microbial colonization. In an ecological context, a niche provides both physical habitat and a food supply for the organisms. We suppose that biochar characteristics of surface charge and porosity that facilitate the transfer of water and nutrients from the bulk soil into biochar pores will be important for supporting microbial growth and activity (e.g., Jaafar et al., 2014; Quilliam et al., 2013). Such an assumption merits further systematic study to relate biochar characteristics to microbial colonization, growth and activities.

# 4.2. Microbial abundance in biochar-amended soils

Several studies reveal the positive influence of biochar on increasing microbial biomass in variety of soil textural classes. As evident from Table 3, the biochar properties and soil native characteristics such as texture exert an important influence on microbial abundance in biochar-amended soils. An interesting study was carried out by Hale et al. (2015). They inoculated Enterobacter cloacae UW5 strains with biochars produced from five feed stocks (i.e., stone fruit pits, palm fronds, coconut shells, pine wood and pistachio nut shells), slow pyrolyzed at 300 °C and 600 °C. The inoculation was achieved by shaking bacterial liquid cultures with known amount of dry biochar for 24 h. The biochar-bacterial mixture was further mixed with sandy loam soil and incubated for 4 weeks. The significantly higher bacteria population density (16% greater than control) was achieved in soil amended with pine wood biochar produced at 600 °C. The authors also found a significant positive relationship between inoculum population density in biochar-amended soil and the pH of biochar  $(R^2 = 0.84, P < 0.05)$  while C:N ratio of biochar had a non-significant effect in this regard ( $R^2 = 0.37$ , P > 0.05). This study suggests that biochar-amended soils favor growth of gram negative bacteria, and this is related to the pH of biochar.

Table 3 shows a trend of greater microbial biomass in soils amended with biochars produced from feedstocks with lower ligno-cellulosic contents (e.g., manure, fruit peels, leaf litter) slow pyrolyzed at >500 °C. This trend was evident across a variety of soil textural classes (i.e., clay loam, silt loam, loamy sand, sandy loam, Kolb et al., 2009; Luo et al., 2013; Ameloot et al., 2013a; Sun et al., 2013; Domene et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014) during 90-1095 days in controlled or in field conditions with biochar amendment rates of 1–10% of soil mass (in 0–15 cm depth of soil). Some studies do not result in greater microbial biomass in biochar-amended soils (e.g., Rutigliano et al., 2011), so caution is needed in extrapolating this finding to all biochar-soil systems. Likewise, Table 3 shows no change in microbial biomass carbon (MBC) when slow pyrolyzed (470-500°C) wood derived biochars were applied at rates of 2-20% by mass (in 0-15 cm depth of soil) during short term experiment of 20-30 days (Prayogo et al., 2014; Zavalloni et al., 2014; Mitchell et al., 2015) under controlled conditions in clay loam to sandy loam soils. This observation does not hold when considering the greater MBC concentration in biochar-amended soils (sandy to clay loam) that were sampled after 2.5 months (Farrell et al., 2013), 4 months (Ameloot et al., 2013a) or  $\geq$ 1 year (Demisie et al., 2014; Nielson, 2014; Mitchell et al., 2015) following biochar amendment (0.1-10% by mass). Some studies also reported that biochars produced at high temperatures (>600 °C) had no effect (Luo et al., 2013) or a negative influence on microbial biomass, especially in coarse-textured soils (Dempster et al., 2012; Table 3 For instance Dempster et al. (2012) reported 28% reduction (P < 0.05) in MBC in response to the amendment of slow pyrolyzed Eucalyptus wood biochar produced at 600 °C as 2.3% amendment in coarse-textured sandy soil during 70 days in controlled conditions. In contrast, Ameloot et al. (2013a) reported a 29% increase in MBC (P < 0.05) in sandy loam soil amended with willow wood biochar produced at 700 °C during 117 days of pot experiment. In another study, a significant 62% increase in MBC in response to amendment with Miscanthus giganteus residue derived biochar produced at 700 °C during three months in clay loam soil was reported (Luo et al., 2013; Table 3. In summary, high production temperature slow pyrolyzed biochars with low nutrient contents (e.g., woody feed stocks) may hinder MBC in coarse textured soils with low OM content in the first 2–3 months following its addition to soil. We have already supposed that biochar can attract and retain water and nutrients from the soil solution, but if those substances are preferentially stored in biochar micro- and meso-pores (<50 nm) that are inaccessible to microorganisms, then this could leave microorganisms nutrient-impoverished for a period of time. The short term reduction in MBC in such biochar-amended soils can be offset by co-applying organic amendments such as compost or manure to increase available substrates for microorganisms.

# 4.3. Microbial community structure in biochar amended soils

Biochars are frequently reported to promote the microbial community structure of soils (Table 3), which is expected to result in a shift in the bacterial and fungal community structure. Sun et al. (2012) found that fungal community structure was less dynamic than bacterial community structure in biochar-amended brown soil under field conditions. Gomez et al. (2014) reported significantly lower F:B ratio in four soils (two sandy loam, clayey and clay loam) amended with fast pyrolysis biochar after 12 months of incubation. It is notable that the F:B ratio of biocharamended soil depends on its C:N ratio, as a result of biochar application (Brewer et al., 2011; Farrell et al., 2013; Muhammad et al., 2014) or its native C:N ratio status (Rousk et al., 2013). An interesting finding by Muhammad et al. (2014), reveals a significant, positive correlation of F:B ratio with total DOC:total N ratio and C:N ratio of sandy loam soils ( $r^2 = 0.68$ ; P < 0.05) amended with slow pyrolyzed biochars (500 °C) produced from swine manure, fruit peals, Brassica Rapa residues and reed grass (Phragmites australis) after 90 days of incubation. These findings provide evidence that biochar influence on microbial community structure is similar to the changes expected after plant residues are incorporated with soil (Gul et al., 2012), since both are causing changes in microbial community structure by altering the C:N ratio of readily-metabolisable substrates in soil.

The increase in microbial biomass within the soil microbial community as a result of biochar amendment can help detect the presence of a given microbial genera or species via DNA/RNA-based techniques, due to increase in their population size and density in the soil matrix (Forney et al., 2004; see also Sheibani et al., 2013). Sun et al. (2013) found ~3 times higher Shannon–Weiner index for the bacterial DGGE profile for

16S rDNA in the charosphere of corn cob pellet biochar than bulk soil during a 96 days pot experiment. Hu et al. (2014) found 12%, 30% and 37% higher bacterial diversity and 17%, 40% and 23% lower fungal diversity as Shannon–Weiner, Simpsons and Chao indices, respectively in forest-litter-biochar amended loamy soil than the control soil during a 96 days incubation. Substantially higher microbial diversity is also reported for Terra Preta soils of Amazonian anthrosols (Table 1). This improved detection of microbial genera/species and groups due to an increase in the size and density of microbial populations in biochar amended soils gives researchers the ability to use DNA-based tools to further probe microbial processes that are affected in biochar-amended soils such as plant-residue transformation processes and production/consumption of greenhouse gases.

#### 4.4. Enzyme activity in biochar amended soils

Soil extracellular enzymes are the proximate agents of organic matter decomposition and nutrient cycling (Burns et al., 2013). Hence the influence of biochar on activities of soil extracellular enzymes is important. Available data reveals a variable effect of biochars on extracellular enzyme activities (Bailey et al., 2011; Awad et al., 2012; Daquan et al., 2012; Paz-Ferreiro et al., 2012; Ameloot et al., 2013a; Masto et al., 2013). The influence of biochar on soil enzyme activity depends on the interaction of substrate and enzyme with biochar (i.e., sorption and desorption of substrates on biochar CEC/AEC sites, binding of extracellular enzymes to the biochar surface, e.g., Bailey et al., 2011; Lammirato et al., 2011) and is related to the porosity and surface area of biochar (e.g., Lammirato et al., 2011). Biochar with greater porosity and surface area is expected to reduce extracellular enzyme activity, since functional groups on such biochar would tend to bind substrates and extracellular enzymes, thus interfering with the rate of substrate diffusion to the active site of enzyme catalysis (e.g., Bailey et al., 2011; Lammirato et al., 2011). This point is supported by Ameloot et al. (2013a), who reported a 47% reduction in dehydrogenase activity with biochar produced at 700 °C, and a 73% increase in dehydrogenase activity with biochar produced at 350 °C during a 117 days laboratory study. Furthermore, they found no difference in microbial biomass for the soil amended with biochar of 700 °C while the MBC increased significantly in soil receiving biochar produced at 350 °C (Table 3).



**Fig. 2.** A conceptual framework for exploring ideas/hypotheses about influence of biochar on soil physico-chemical properties and microbial activities as function of interactive effect of its characteristics as size, porosity, surface area, nutrient contents and pH and soil native characteristics as texture and residual SOM contents (left side). This model also indicates the need for comparing results from studies conducted in controlled conditions with the findings from field studies.

### 4.5. Microbial signaling biochar-amended soils

Quorum sensing is well documented for soil microorganisms and allows for cell-cell recognition, signaling and cross-talk among genera and organisms (e.g., microbe-microbe and plant-microbe interactions). Wood-derived biochar hindered N-(3-oxododecanovl)-L-homoserine lactone mediated cell-cell communication between gram-negative soil bacteria in agar based growth medium, with 10-fold more hindrance for the biochar produced at 700 °C as compared to the biochar produced at 300 °C (Masiello et al., 2013). In this situation, the mechanism was probably the sorption capacity of biochar, which increases with increasing the production temperature. However, since soil-applied biochar interacts with number of organo-mineral substances, the magnitude of microbial signaling interruption may depends on the availability of free space on biochar sorptive surfaces, where signaling molecules could bet adsorbed. If the findings of Masiello et al. (2013) could be extrapolated to the soil environment, it may suggest that biochars produced at higher temperature (>600 °C) in low OM containing soils would cause microbial signaling interruption to greater magnitude than in soils with higher SOM contents. This possibility merits further study.

# 4.6. Microbial responses in fresh- versus aged-biochar-amended soils

The change in biochar properties associated with its aging also causes changes in microbial processes. For example, Spokas (2013) reported 27%, 27% and 81% higher CO<sub>2</sub> production from silt loam soils amended with 3 years field-aged biochars produced from three feedstocks: hardwood, macadamia nut shell and wood pellet (slow pyrolysed at 500–550 °C) respectively, as compared to the fresh biochars during a 100 days incubation period. The aged biochars had respectively 16%, 50% and 19% more volatile matter and 17%, 27% and 60% more ach contents than fresh biochars, which may be attributed to the higher adsorption of biochars for low molecular weight substances due to their increased oxidation with time during their burial in soil. However, comparing fire-produced char buried in oil for 10 years with freshly prepared slow pyrolysed biochar (450°C) with the same woody feedstock, Zhao et al. (2015) found 24% lower C mineralization of clay loam soil amended with aged as compared to fresh biochar during 42 days of incubation. Moreover, they reported  $\sim$ 3 times higher ash contents in fresh biochar whereas the volatile organic matter in fresh biochar was  $2.77 \text{ mg s}^{-1}$  and in aged biochar was negligible  $(<1 \text{ mg g}^{-1})$ , while the concentration of ammonium was 84% and nitrate was 91% higher in aged biochar. An interesting finding of Zhao et al. (2015) was no difference in microbial abundance in soils amended with these biochars despite of higher C mineralization in fresh biochar amended soil, which indicates that the nutrient use efficiency of microorganisms was higher in aged biochar amended soil. These studies suggest that the nutrient contents in biochar, including nutrients derived from the biochar and nutrients transferred from the bulk soil to biochar, controls microbial growth and activity. Changes in soil microbial community structure and the associated changes in their activity in biocharamended soils should consider the aging effect from the perspective of nutrient and metabolizable C adsorption/desorption reactions on biochar surfaces.

# 5. Future directions

Fig. 2 provides a conceptual framework of ideas/hypotheses of the future research needs to evaluate the influence of a biochar types on microbial responses in a given soil textural class, through short term studies (1–6 months) and in the longer-term (1–3 years or longer). These ideas are further explained and research recommendations are proposed below.

5.1. Laboratory incubation and pot-based studies

Studies are needed to evaluate:

- Short-term influence of biochar (1–6 months) on soil physicochemical properties such as aggregation, pH, and CEC/AEC and to link the magnitude of this influence with the interaction of rate of application of a given biochar type regarding its source and production temperature with soil edaphic factors such as texture, pH and SOM contents.
- The long-term (>3 years) influence of biochar on soil physicochemical properties, considering the magnitude of biochar effects in early stages following soil amendment and how this evolves through time.
- The short-term influence of biochar on microbial abundance and community structure within biochar pores, as determined by pore size (as it determines the movement of microbes and nutrients from soil matrix into biochar and vice versa), pH, concentration of nutrients, and DOC contents of biochar and in soil matrix.
- The influence of aged biochar (older than at least 1 year since its application in soil) on microbial abundance and community structure within its pores needs to be linked with its size, porosity, pH, DOC and concentration of nutrients before its amendment in soil as well as with the pH, SOM contents. microbial abundance, and microbial community structure of soil. This study will help understand (1) whether microbial colonization in biochar pores is the function of their accessibility or is controlled by the chemistry of biochar (2) how rapidly the biochar environment gets changed according to the environment of its surroundings (soil matrix) as the function of its size and porosity (3) although the chemical properties of biochar gets synchronized with the chemical properties of soil with its aging, to what extent it contributes to increase the microbial abundance via providing them with "habitat", and (4) to what extent microbial colonization within biochar pores is related to the microbial abundance in soil matrix.
- The microbial abundance and community structure in biocharamended soils after a certain period of time (1–3 years or more), considering the soil edaphic factors (i.e., texture, pH, C:N ratio, SOM contents) before biochar amendment, the physico-chemical properties of biochar (i.e., pH, surface area, porosity, nutrient contents) before its amendment to soil and its application rate. Such an assessment will help understand the suitability and proper application of that biochar for that soil.
- The biochar-induced inoculation of microbial strains to roots of plants/crops as affected bybiochar-induced changes in microbial abundance and community structure of soils. A more abundance and diverse community structure (greater abundance of a given microbial group) is supposed to be responsible for more inoculation of microbes to plant roots.
- The effectiveness of a given biochar type in improving soil physico-chemical properties and microbial processes in a given soil textural class, when co-applied with organic and inorganic amendments. Such studies will help understand how to manipulate biochar-induced changes in soil properties to acquire desired results such as greater SOM contents, more aggregation, higher CEC/AEC, well pH buffering capacity, higher microbial abundance, stronger microbial community structure etc. Moreover, such studies will help improve our understanding of proper application of a given biochar type in a given soil textural class.

## 5.2. Field-based studies

The understanding of biochar induced changes in soil properties needs to be further developed by comparing the results of laboratory and pot-based studies with the studies conducted in field. Such a comparison will help understand the role of environmental factors in controlling biochar-induced physico-chemical and biological properties of soils in relation to biochar type (i.e., crop/manure versus woody feedstock-derived biochars and biochars produced at lower ( $\leq$ 400 °C) versus higher production temperature ( $\geq$ 600 °C) and soil edaphic factors such as texture, pH, and SOM contents.

# 6. Conclusions

The influence of biochar on the physico-chemical properties of soils depends on the biochar characteristics as determined by its source and production temperature and soil native characteristics such as texture. Surface area, pH, O:C ratio are the important controllers for the change in pH, CEC, soil aggregation and retention of low molecular weight substances in soil. The biochars produced from ligno-cellulosic rich feedstocks at higher production temperatures ( $\geq 600 \,^{\circ}$ C) tend to reduce aggregation in coarse-textured low organic matter containing soils. Such biochars possess low nutrient contents as compared to manure or crop residue based biochars, and high sorption capacity because of high temperature induced greater surface area. Consequently, they tend to reduce microbial abundance and enzyme activities in coarse-textured soils. In contrast, fine-textured soils exhibit no change in microbial abundance when amended with such biochars. This suggests that the amount of residual soil organic matter of a given soil textural class can buffer the negative influence on microbial populations and their activity following soil amendment with biochars from high temperature production that have low nutrient content. Co-amendment of organic or inorganic fertilizers with such biochars is recommended for coarse-textures soils to prevent nutrient deficiency for microbial growth and to attenuate the sorption of compounds on biochar surfaces that can reduce extracellular enzyme activities and microbial signaling. Moreover, it is recommended to evaluate the role of size, porosity and surface area of biochar in influencing microbial colonization to biochar as a consequence of accessibility of nutrients and microorganisms from soil matrix to biochar pores. The long-term influence of biochar (>3 years) on soil physico-chemical and biological properties is unlikely to be similar to the short-term effects, since the aging process results in the development of equilibrium conditions for chemical exchange and biological activity in the biochar-soil system.

# Acknowledgement

Financial support from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) through Grant No. 2383823-10 is gratefully acknowledged.

## References

- Abit, S.M., Bolster, C.H., Cai, P., Walker, S.L., 2012. Influence of feedstock and pyrolysis temperature of biochar amendments on transport of *Escherichia coli* in saturated and unsaturated soil. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 8097–8105.
- Aloni, R., Zimmermann, M.H., 1983. The control of vessel size and density along the plant axis. A new hypothesis. Differentiation 24, 203–208.
- Al-Wabel, M.I., Al-Omran, A., El-Naggar, A.H., Nadeem, M., Usman, A.R.A., 2013. Pyrolysis temperature induced changes in characteristics and chemical composition of biochar produced from *Conocarpus* wastes. Bioresour. Technol. 131, 374–379.

- Ameloot, N., Neve, S.D., Jegajeevagan, K., Yildiz, G., Buchan, D., Funkuin, Y.N., Prins, W., Bouckaert, L., Sleutel, S., 2013a. Short-term CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and microbial properties of biochar amended sandy loam soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 57, 401–410.
- Ameloot, N., Graber, E.R., Verheijen, F.G.A., Neve, D., 2013b. Interactions between biochar stability and soil organisms: review and research needs. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 64, 379–390.
- Ameloot, N., Sleutel, S., Case, S.D.C., Alberti, G., McNamara, N.P., Zavalloni, C., Vervisch, B., Vedove, G., Neve, S.D., 2014. C mineralization and microbial activity in four biochar field experiments several years after incorporation. Soil Biol. Biochem. 78, 195–203.
- Awad, Y.M., Blagodatskaya, E., Ok, Y.S., Kuzyakov, Y., 2012. Effects of polyacrylamide, biopolymer, and biochar on decomposition of soil organic matter and plant residues as determined by <sup>14</sup>C and enzyme activities. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 48, 1–10.
- Awad, Y.M., Blagodatskaya, E., Ok, Y.S., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013, Effects of polyacrylamide, biopolymer and biochar on the decomposition of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled maize residues and on their stabilization in soil aggregates. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 64, 488–499.
- Bailey, V.L., Fansler, S.J., Smith, J.L., Bolton, H., 2011. Reconciling apparent variability in effects of biochar amendment on soil enzyme activities by assay optimization. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 296–301.
- Basso, A.S., Miguez, F.E., Laird, D.A., Horton, R., Westgate, M., 2013. Assessing potential of biochar for increasing water-holding capacity of sandy soils. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy 5, 132–143.
- Bird, M.I., Wurster, C.M., Silva, P.H.P., Bass, A.M., Nys, R., 2011. Algal biochar production and properties. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 1886–1891.
- Brady, N.C., Weil, R.R., 2008. The Nature and Properties of Soils, fourth ed. Pearson Prentice Hall, New Jersey.
- Brewer, C.E., Brown, R.C., 2012. Biochar. In: Sayigh, A. (Ed.), Comprehensive Renewable Energy. Elsevier, Oxford, pp. 357–384.
- Brewer, C.E., Hu, Y.Y., Schmidt-Rohr, K., Loynachan, T.E., Laird, D.A., Brown, R.C., 2011. Extent of pyrolysis impacts on fast pyrolysis biochar properties. J. Environ. Qual. 41, 1115–1122.
- Budai, A., Wang, L., Gronli, M., Strand, L.T., Antal, M.J., Abiven, J.S., Dieguez-Alonso, A., Anca-Couce, A., Rasse, D.P., 2014. Surface properties and chemical composition of corncob and *Miscanthus* biochars: effects of production temperature and method. J. Agric. Food Chem. 62, 3791–3799.
- Burns, R.G., DeForest, J.L., Marxsen, J., Sinsabaugh, R.L., Stromberger, M.E., Wallenstein, M.D., Weintraub, M.N., Zoppini, A., 2013. Soil enzymes in a changing environment: current knowledge and future directions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 58, 216–234.
- Busscher, W.J., Novak, J.M., Evans, D.E., Watts, D.W., Niandou, M.A.S., Ahmedna, M., 2010. Influence of pecan biochar on physical properties of a Norfolk loamy sand. Soil Sci. 175, 10–14.
- Busscher, W.J., Novak, J.M., Ahmedna, M., 2011. Physical effects of organic matter amendment of a southeastern US coastal loamy sand. Soil Sci. 176, 661–667.
- Cantrell, K.B., Hunt, P.G., Uchimiya, M., Novak, J.M., Ro, K.S., 2012. Impact of pyrolysis temperature and manure source on physicochemical characteristics of biochar. Bioresour. Technol. 107, 419–428.
- Carlquist, S., Schneider, E.L., 2007. Origins and nature of vessels in monocotyledons. 9. Sansevieria. S. Afr. J. Bot. 73, 196–203.
- Chan, K.Y., Van Zwieten, L., Meszaros, I., Downie, A., Joseph, S., 2007. Agronomic values of greenwaste biochar as soil amendment. Aust. J. Soil Res. 45, 629–634.
- Chan, K.Y., Van Zwieten, L., Meszaros, I., Downie, A., Joseph, S., 2008. Using poultry litter biochars as soil amendments. Aust. J. Soil Res. 46, 437–444.
- Chintala, R., Mollinedo, J., Schumacher, T.E., Malo, D.D., Julson, J.L., 2014a. Effect of biochar on chemical properties of acidic soil. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 60, 393–404.
- Chintala, R., Schumacher, T.E., Kumar, S., Malo, D.D., Rice, J.A., Bleakley, B., Chilom, G., Clay, D.E., Julson, J.L., Papiernik, S.K., Gu, Z.R., 2014b. Molecular characterization of biochars and their influence on microbiological properties of soil. J. Hazard. Mater. 279, 244–256.
- Crombie, K., Masek, O., Sohi, S.P., Brownsort, P., Cross, A., 2013. The effect of pyrolysis conditions on biochar stability as determined by three methods. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy 5, 122–131.
- Curtin, D., Rostad, P.W., 1997. Cation exchange and buffer potential of Saskatchewan soils estimated from texture, organic matter and pH. Can. J. Soil Sci. 77, 621–626.
- Curtin, D., Trolove, S., 2013. Predicting pH buffering capacity of New Zealand soils from organic matter content and mineral characteristics. Soil Res. 51, 494–502.
- Daquan, S., Meng, J., Weiming, Z., 2012. Implication of temporal dynamics of microbial abundance and nutrients to soil fertility under biochar application – field experiments conducted in a brown soil cultivated with soybean, north China. In: Iranpour, R., Zhao, J., Wang, A., Yang, F., Li, X. (Eds.), Advanced Materials Research, 518–523. Trans Tech Publications, Switzerland, pp. 384–394.
- Deenik, J.L., McClellan, T., Uehara, G., Antal, M.J., Campbell, S., 2010. Charcoal volatile matter content influences plant growth and soil nitrogen transformations. Soil Fertil. Plant Nutr. 74, 1259–1270.
- Demisie, W., Liu, Z., Zhang, M., 2014. Effect of biochar on carbon fractions and enzyme activity of red soil. Catena 121, 214–221.
- Doan, T.T., Bouvier, C., Bettarel, Y., Bouvier, T., Tureaux, T.H., Janeau, J.L., Lamballe, P., Nguyen, B.V., Jouquet, P., 2014. Influence of buffalo manure, compost, vermicompost and biocharamendments on bacterial and viral communities in soil and adjacentaquatic systems. Appl. Soil Ecol. 73, 78–86.
- Dempster, D.N., Gleeson, D.P., Solaiman, Z.M., Jones, D.L., Murphy, D.V., 2012. Decreased soil microbial biomass and nitrogen mineralisation with *Eucalyptus* biochar addition to a coarse textured soil. Plant Soil 354, 311–324.

- Domene, X., Mattana, S., Hanley, K., Enders, A., Lehmann, J., 2014. Medium-term effects of corn biochar addition on soil biota activities and functions in a temperate soil cropped to corn. Soil Biol. Biochem. 72, 152–162.
- Ducey, T.M., Ippolito, J.A., Cantrell, K.B., Novak, J.M., Lentz, R.D., 2013. Addition of activated switchgrass biochar to an aridic subsoil increases microbial nitrogen cycling gene abundances. Appl. Soil Ecol. 65, 65–72.
- Ennis, C.J., Evans, A.G., Islam, M., Komang, K., Ralebitso-Senior Senior, E., 2012. Biochar carbon sequestration, land remediation, and impacts on soil microbiology. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 2311–2364.
- Farrell, M., Kuhn, T.K., Macdonald, L.M., Maddern, T.M., Murphy, D.V., Hall, P.A., Singh, B.P., Baumann, K., Krull, E.S., Baldock, J.A., 2013. Microbial utilization of biochar-derived carbon. Sci. Total Environ. 465, 288–297.
- Feng, L., Gui-tong, L., Qi-mei, L., Xiao-rong, Z., 2014. Crop yield and soil properties in the first 3 years after biochar application to a calcareous soil. J. Integr. Agric. 13, 525–532.
- Forney, L.J., Zhou, X., Brown, C.J., 2004. Molecular microbial ecology: land of the one-eyed king. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 7, 210–220.
- Germano, M.G., Cannavan, F.S., Mendes, L.W., Lima, A.B., Teixeira, W.G., Pellizari, V. H., Tsai, S.M., 2012. Functional diversity of bacterial genes associated with aromatic hydrocarbon degradation in anthropogenic dark earth of Amazonia. Pesq. Agropec. Bras. 47, 654–664.
- Githinji, L, 2014. Effect of biochar application rate on soil physical and hydraulic properties of a sandy loam. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 60, 457–470.
- Glaser, B., Lehmann, J., Zech, W., 2002. Ameliorating physical and chemical properties of highly weathered soils in the tropics with charcoal: a review. Biol. Fertil. Soils 35, 219–230.
- Gomez, J.D., Denef, K., Stewart, C.E., Zheng, J., Cotrufo, M.F., 2014. Biochar addition rate influences soil microbial abundance and activity in temperate soils. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 65, 28–39.
- Gul, S., Whalen, J.K., Ellis, B.E., Graystone, S., 2012. Plant residue chemistry impacts soil processes and microbial community structure: a study with *Arabidopsis thaliana* cell wall mutants. Appl. Soil Ecol. 60, 84–91.
- Gul, S., Kiara, S., Winans, K.S., Leila, M., Whalen, J.K., 2014a. Sustaining soil carbon reserves of bioenergy cropping systems in northern temperate regions. CAB Rev. – Perspect. Agric. Vet. Sci. Nutr. Nat. Resour. 9, 1–23.
- Gul, S., Yanni, S.F., Whalen, J.K., 2014b. Lignin controls on soil ecosystem services: implications for biotechnological advances in biofuel crops. In: Fachuange, L. (Ed.), Biochemistry Research Trends. Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp. 375–416.
- Hale, L., Luth, M., Crowley, D., 2015. Biochar characteristics relate to its utility as an alternative soil inoculum carrier to peat and vermiculite. Soil Biol. Biochem. 81, 228–235.
- Heitkotter, J., Marschner, B., 2015. Interactive effects of biochar ageing in soils related to feedstock, pyrolysis temperature, and historic charcoal production. Geoderma 245–246, 56–64.
- Herath, H.M.S.K., Camps-Arbestain, M.C., Hedley, M., 2013. Effect of biochar on soil physical properties in two contrasting soils: an alfisol and an andisol. Geoderma 209, 188–197.
- Hu, L., Cao, L., Zhang, R., 2014. Bacterial and fungal taxon changes in soil microbial community composition induced by short-term biochar amendment in red oxidized loam soil. World J. Microb. Biotechnol. 30, 1085–1092.
- Huff, M.D., Kumar, S., Lee, J.W., 2014. Comparative analysis of pinewood, peanut shell, and bamboo biomass derived biochars produced via hydrothermal conversion and pyrolysis. J. Environ. Manag. 146, 303–308. Ibrahim, H.M., Al-Wabel, M.I., Usman, A.R.A., Al-Omran, A., 2013. Effect of
- Ibrahim, H.M., Al-Wabel, M.I., Usman, A.R.A., Al-Omran, A., 2013. Effect of *Conocarpus* biochar application on the hydraulic properties of a sandy loam soil. Soil Sci. 178, 165–173.
- Jaafar, N.M., Clode, P.L., Abbott, L.K., 2014. Microscopy observations of habitable space in biochar for colonization by fungal hyphae from soil. J. Integr. Agric. 13, 483–490.
- Jien, S.-H., Wang, C.-S., 2013. Effects of biochar on soil properties and erosion potential in a highly weathered soil. Catena 110, 225–233.
- Joseph, S., Taylor, P., 2014. The production and application of biochar in soils. Advances in Biorefineries: Biomass and Waste Supply Chain Exploitation. Woodhead Publishing Limited, pp. 525–555 (Chapter 14).
- Khademalrasoul, A., Naveed, M., Heckrath, G., Kumari, K.G.I.D., Wollesen de Jonge, L., Elsgaard, L., Vogel, H.-J., Iversen, B.V., 2014. Biochar effects on soil aggregate properties under no-till maize. Soil Sci. 179, 273–283.
- Kameyama, K., Miyamoto, T., Shiono, T., Shinogi, Y., 2012. Influence of sugarcane bagasse-derived biochar application on nitrate leaching in calcaric dark red soil. J. Environ. Qual. 41, 1131–1137.
- Kleber, M., Eusterhues, K., Keiluweit, K., Mikutta, C., Mikutta, R., Nico, P.S., 2014. Mineral-organic associations: formation, properties, and relevance in soil environments. Adv. Agron. 130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2014.10.005.
- Klupfel, L., Keiluweit, M., Kleber, M., Sander, M., 2014. Redox properties of plant biomass derived black carbon (biochar). Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 5601–5611.
- Kogel-Knabner, I., Amelung, W., 2014. Dynamics, chemistry, and preservation of organic matter in soils, second ed. Reference Module in Earth Systems and Environmental Sciences, from Treatise on Geochemistry, 12., pp. 157–215I.
- Kolb, S.E., Fermanich, K.J., Dornbush, M.E., 2009. Effect of charcoal quantity on microbial biomass and activity in temperate soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 73, 1173–1181.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Subbotina, I., Chen, H., Bogomolova, I., Xu, X., 2009. Black carbon decomposition and incorporation into soil microbial biomass estimated by 14 C labeling. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41, 210–219.

- Lai, W.-Y., Lai, C.-M., Ke, G.-R., Chung, R.-S., Chen, C.-T., Cheng, C.-H., Pai, C.-W., Chen, S.-Y., Chen, C.-C., 2013. The effects of woodchip biochar application on crop yield, carbon sequestration and greenhouse gas emissions from soils planted with rice or leaf beet. J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 44, 1039–1044.
- Lammirato, C., Miltner, A., Kaestner, M., 2011. Effects of wood char and activated carbon on the hydrolysis of cellobiose by β-glucosidase from *Aspergillus niger*. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 1936–1942.
- Lashari, M.S., Liu, Y., Li, L., Pan, W., Fu, J., Pan, G., Zheng, J., Zheng, J., Zhang, X., Yu, X., 2013. Effects of amendment of biochar–manure compost in conjunction with pyroligneous solution on soil quality and wheat yield of a salt-stressed cropland from Central China Great Plain. Field Crop Res. 144, 113–118.
- Lee, Y., Park, J., Ryu, C., Gang, K.S., Yang, W., Park, Y.-K., Jung, J., Hyun, S., 2013. Comparison of biochar properties from biomass residues produced by slow pyrolysis at 500 °C. Bioresour. Technol. 148, 196–201.
- Lehmann, J., 2007. A handful of carbon. Nature 447, 143-144.
- Lehmann, J., Rillig, M.C., Thies, J., Masiello, C.A., Hockaday, W.C., Crowley, D., 2011. Biochar effects on soil biota: a review. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 1812–1836.
- Liang, B., Lehmann, J., Solomon, D., Sohi, S., Thies, J.E., Skjemstad, J.O., Luiza, F.J., Engelhard, M.H., Neves, E.G., Wirick, S., 2008. Stability of biomass-derived black carbon in soils. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 72, 6069–6078.
- Lu, W., Ding, W., Zhang, J., Li, Y., Luo, J., Bolan, N., Xie, Z., 2014. Biochar suppressed the decomposition of organic carbon in a cultivated sandy loam soil: a negative priming effect. Soil Biol. Biochem. 76, 12–21.
- Luo, Y., Durenkamp, M., Nobili, M.D., Lin, Q., Brookes, P.C., 2011. Short term soil priming effects and the mineralisation of biochar following its incorporation to soils of different pH. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 2304–2314.
- Luo, Y., Durenkamp, M., Nobili, M.D., Lin, Q., Devonshire, B.J., Brookes, P.C., 2013. Microbial biomass growth following incorporation of biochars produced at 350 °C or 700 °C, in a silty-clay loam soil of high and low pH. Soil Biol. Biochem. 57, 513–523.
- Maestrini, B., Herrmann, A.M., Nannipieri, P., Schmidt, M.W.I., Abiven, S., 2014. Ryegrass-derived pyrogenic organic matter changes organic carbon and nitrogen mineralization in a temperate forest soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 69, 291301.
- Major, J., Steiner, C., Downie, A., Lehmann, J., 2009. Biochar effects on nutrient leaching. In: Lehmann, J., Joseph, S. (Eds.), Biochar for Environmental Management: Science and Technology, Farthscan, London, pp. 271–288
- Management: Science and Technology. Earthscan, London, pp. 271–288.
  Malghani, S., Gleixner, G., Trumbore, S.E., 2013. Chars produced by slow pyrolysis and hydrothermal carbonization vary in carbon sequestration potential and greenhouse gases emissions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 62, 137–146.
- Masiello, C.A., Gao, Y.C.X., Liu, S., Cheng, H.-Y., Bennett, M.R., Rudgers, J.A., Wagner, D. S., Zygourakis, K., Silberg, J.J., 2013. Biochar and microbial signaling: production conditions determine effects on microbial communication. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 11496–11503.
- Masto, R.M., Kumar, S., Rout, T.K., Sarkar, P., George, J., Ram, L.C., 2013. Biochar from water hyacinth (*Eichornia crassipes*) and its impact on soil biological activity. Catena 111, 64–71.
- McCormack, S.A., Ostle, N., Bardgett, R.D., Hopkins, D.W., Vanbergen, A.J., 2013. Biochar in bioenergy cropping systems: impacts on soil faunal communities and linked ecosystem processes. Global Change Biol. Bioenergy 5, 81–95.
- Mitchell, P.J., Simpson, A.J., Soong, R., Simpson, M.J., 2015. Shifts in nicrobial community and water-extractable organic matter composition with biochar amendment in a temperate forest soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 81, 244–254.
- Mohanty, P., Nanda, S., Pant, K.K., Naik, S., Kozinski, J.A., Dalai, A.K., 2013. Evaluation of the physiochemical development of biochars obtainedfrom pyrolysis of wheat straw, timothy grass and pinewood: effects of heating rate. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrol. 104, 485–493.
- Mukherjee, A., Zimmerman, A.R., Harris, W., 2011. Surface chemistry variations among a series of laboratory-produced biochars. Geoderma 163, 247–255.
- Mukherjee, A., Lal, R., 2013. Biochar impacts on soil physical properties and greenhouse gas emissions. Agronomy 3, 313–339.
- Muhammad, N., Dai, Z., Xiao, K., Meng, J., Brookes, P.C., Liu, X., Wang, H., Wu, J., Xu, J., 2014. Changes in microbial community structure due to biochars generated from different feedstocks and their relationships with soil chemical properties. Geoderma 226, 270–278.
- Nelissen, V., Rutting, T., Huygens, D., Staelens, J., Ruysschaert, G., Boeck, P., 2012. Maize biochars accelerate short-term soil nitrogen dynamics in a loamy sand soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 55, 20–27.
- Nguyen, B.T., Lehmann, J., 2009. Black carbon decomposition under varying water regimes. Org. Geochem. 40, 846–853.
- Nielsen, S., Minchin, T., Kimber, S., van Zwieten, L., Gilbert, J., Munroe, P., Joseph, S., Thomas, T., 2014. Comparative analysis of the microbial communities in agricultural soilamended with enhanced biochars or traditional fertilisers. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.04.006.
- Novak, J.M., Cantrell, K.B., Watts, D.W., 2013. Compositional and thermal evaluation of lignocellulosic and poultry litter chars via high and low temperature pyrolysis. Bioenergy Res. 6, 114–130.
- Paz-Perreiro, J., Gascó, G., Gutiérrez, B., Méndez, A., 2012. Soil biochemical activities and the geometric mean of enzyme activities after application of sewage sludge and sewage sludge biochar to soil. Biol. Fertil. Soils 48, 511–517.
- Pietikainen, J., Kiikkila, O., Fritze, H., 2000. Charcoal as a habitat for microbes and its effect on the microbial community of the underlying humus. Oikos 89, 231–242.
- Prayogo, C., Jones, J.E., Baeyens, J., Bending, G.D., 2014. Impact of biochar on mineralisation of C and N from soil and willow litter and its relationship with microbial community biomass and structure. Biol. Fertil. Soils 50, 695–702.

- Preston, C.M., Schmidt, M.W.I., 2006. Black (pyrogenic) carbon: a synthesis of current knowledge and uncertainties with special consideration of boreal regions. Biogeosciences 3, 397–420.
- Prommer, J., Wanek, W., Hofhans, F., Trojan, D., Offre, P., Urich, T., Schleper, C., Sassmann, S., Kitzler, B., Soja, G., Hood-Nowotny, R.C., 2014. Biochar decelerates soil organic nitrogen cycling but stimulates soil nitrification in a temperate arable field trial. PLoS One 9, 1–16.
- Quilliam, R.S., Glanville, H.C., Wade, S.C., Jones, D.L., 2013. Life in the 'charosphere' does biochar in agricultural soil provide a significant habitat for microorganisms? Soil Biol. Biochem. 65, 287–293.
- Rajapaksha, A.U., Vithanage, M., Zhang, M., Ahmad, M., Mohan, D., Chang, S.X., Ok, Y. S., 2014. Pyrolysis condition affected sulfamethazine sorption by tea waste biochars. Bioresour. Technol. 166, 303–308.
- Ronsse, F., Hecke, S., Dickinson, D., Prins, W., 2013. Production and characterization of slow pyrolysis biochar: influence of feedstock type and pyrolysis conditions. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy 5, 104–115.
- Rousk, Dempster, D.M., Jones, D.L., 2013. Transient biochar effects on decomposer microbial growth rates: evidence from two agricultural case-studies. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 64, 770–776.
- Rutigliano, F.A., Romano, M., Marzaioli, R., Baglivo, I., Baronti, S., Miglietta, F., Castaldi, S., 2011. Effect of biochar addition on soil microbial community in a wheat crop. Eur. J. Soil Biol. 60, 9–15.
- Sachdeva, V., 2013. Biochar-induced soil stability influences phosphorus retention in an agricultural field in Quebec. MSc Thesis. Department of Natural Resource Sciences, McGill University.
- Santos, F., Torn, M.S., Bird, J.A., 2012. Biological degradation of pyrogenic organic matter in temperate forest soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 51, 115–124.
- Schulz, H., Dunst, G., Glaser, B., 2014. No effect level of co-composted biochar on plant growth and soil properties in a greenhouse experiment. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 33, 817–827.
- Sheibani, S., Yanni, S.F., Wihelm, R., Whalen, J.K., Whyte, L.G., Greer, C.W., 2013. Soil bacteria and archaea found in long-term corn (Zea mays L.) agroecosystems in Quebec. Can. J. Soil Sci. 93, 45–57.
- Singh, N., Abiven, S., Maestrini, B., Bird, J.A., Torn, M., Schmidt, W.I., 2014. Transformation and stabilization of pyrogenic organic matter in a temperate forest field experiment. Glob. Change Biol. 20, 1629–1642.
- Singh, B.P., Cowie, A.L., 2010. Characterisation and evaluation of biochars for their application as a soil amendment. Aust. J. Soil Res. 48, 516–525.
- Singh, B.P., Cowie, A.L., 2014. Long-term influence of biochar on native organic carbon ineralisation in a low-carbon clayey soil. Sci. Rep. 4, 1–9.
- Soinne, H., Hovi, J., Tammeorg, P., Turtola, E., 2014. Effect of biochar on phosphorus sorption and clay soil aggregate stability. Geoderma 219–220, 162–167.
- Solomon, D., Lehmann, J., Wang, J., Kinyangi, J., Heymann, K., Lu, Y., Wirick, S., Jacobsen, C., 2012. Micro- and nano-environments of C sequestration in soil: a multi-elemental STXM-NEXAFS assessment of black C and organomineral associations. Sci. Total Environ. 438, 372–388.
- Spokas, K.A., 2013. Impact of biochar field aging on laboratory greenhouse gas production potentials. Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy 5, 165–176.
- Stewart, C.E., Zheng, J., Botte, J., Cotrufo, F., 2013. Co-generated fast pyrolysis biochar mitigates greenhouse gas emissions and increases carbon sequestration in temperate soils. Glob. Change. Biol. Bioenergy 5, 153–164.

- Sun, D., Jun, M., Zhang, W., Guan, X., Huang, Y., Lan, Y., Gao, J., Chen, W., 2012. Implication of temporal dynamics of microbial abundance and nutrients to soil fertility under biochar application – field experiments conducted in a brown soil cultivated with soybean, north China. In: Iranpour, R., Zhao, J., Wang, A., Yang, F., Li, X. (Eds.), Advances in Environmental Science and Engineering, 518–523. Trans Tech Publications, Switzerland, pp. 384–394.
- Sun, D., Meng, J., Chen, W., 2013. Effects of abiotic components induced by biochar on microbial communities. Acta Agric. Scand. Sect. B 63, 633–641.
- Sylvia, D.M., Fuhrmann, J.J., Hartel, P.G., Zuberer, D.A., 2005. Principles and Applications of Soil Microbiology. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey.
- Taketani, R.G., Lima, A.B., Jesus, E.C., Teixeira, W.G., Tiedje, J.M., Tsai, S.M., 2013. Bacterial community composition of anthropogenic biochar and Amazonian anthrosols assessed by 16S rRNA gene 454 pyrosequencing. A. Van Leeuw. J. Microbiol. 104, 233–242.
- Uchimiya, M., Ohno, T., He, Z., 2013. Pyrolysis temperature-dependent release of dissolved organic carbon from plant, manure, and biorefinery wastes. J. Anal. Appl. Pyrol. 104, 84–94.
- Ventura, M., Zhang, C., Bald, E., Fornasier, F., Sorrenti, G., Panzacchi, P., Tonon, G., 2014. Effect of biochar addition on soil respiration partitioning and root dynamics in an apple orchard. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 65, 186–195.
- Verheijen, F., Jeffery, S., Bastos, A.C., van der Velde, M., Diafas, I., 2010. Biochar Application to Soils: A Critical Scientific Review of Effects on Soil Properties, Processes and Functions. Joint Research Center, European Commission, Luxembourg.
- Wan, Q., Yuan, J.-H., Xu, R.-K., Li, X.-H., 2014. Pyrolysis temperature influences ameliorating effects of biochars on acidic soil. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 2486–2495.
- Wang, Z., Li, Y., Chang, S.X., Zhang, J., Jiang, P., Zhou, G., Shen, Z., 2014. Contrasting effects of bamboo leaf and its biochar on soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux and labile organic carbon in an intensively managed Chinese chestnut plantation. Biol. Fertil. Soils 50, 1109–1119.
- Warnock, D.D., Lehmann, J., Kuyper, T.W., Rillig, M.C., 2007. Mycorrhizal responses to biochar in soil – concepts and mechanisms. Plant Soil 300 9–20.
- Watzinger, A., Feichtmair, S., Kitzler, B., Zehetner, F., Kloss, S., Wimmer, B., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Soja, G., 2014. Soil microbial communities responded to biochar application in temperate soils and slowly metabolized 13C-labelled biochar as revealed by 13C PLFA analyses: results from a shortterm incubation and pot experiment. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 65, 40–51.
- Xu, G., Sun, J.-N., Shao, H.-B., Chang, S.X., 2014. Biochar had effects on phosphorus sorption and desorption in three soils with differing acidity. Ecol. Eng. 62, 54–60.
- Zackrisson, O., Nilsson, M.C., Wardle, D.A., 1996. Key ecological function of charcoal from wildfire in the Boreal forest. Oikos 77, 10–19.
- Zavalloni, C., Alberti, G., Biasiol, S., Vedove, G.D., Fornasier, F., Liu, J., Peressotti, A., 2011. Microbial mineralization of biochar and wheat straw mixture in soil: a short-term study. Appl. Soil Ecol. 50, 45–51.
- Zhao, R., Coles, N., Kong, Z., Wu, J., 2015. Effects of aged and fresh biochars on soil acidity under different incubation conditions. Soil Tillage Res. 146, 133–138.
- Zimmermann, M., Bird, M.I., Wurster, C., Saiz, G., Goodrick, I., Barta, J., Capek, P., Santruckova, H., Smernik, R., 2012. Rapid degradation of pyrogenic carbon. Global Change Biol. 18, 3306–3316.